IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA DOCKET NO. 22-848

SCA EFiled: May 15 2023 03:46PM EDT Transaction ID 70016956

WESTFIELD INSURANCE COMPANY, Petitioner,

v.

SISTERSVILLE TANK WORKS, INC., ROBERT N. EDWARDS, E. JANE PRICE, individually and as Executor of the ESTATE OF ROBERT G. PRICE, DOUGLAS STEELE, CAROL STEELE, GARY THOMAS SANDY, PEGGY SANDY, REAGLE & PADDEN, INC. and DAVID C. PADDEN, Respondents,

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

(from the United States Court of Appeals For The Fourth Circuit, Case No. 20-2052)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement Of Facts

In its *Complaint For Declaratory Relief* (JA 9-79), Westfield sought a declaratory judgment that it does not owe coverage or a defense to Sistersville Tank Works, Inc. ("STW") for latent disease personal injury claims under certain long expired insurance policies issued between 1989 and 2010 (the "Westfield Policies" or the "Policies"). Claimants Robert N. Edwards, Deborah S. Edwards, E. Jane Price, Douglas Steele and Carol Steele (collectively referred to as "the Claimants"), have filed lawsuits in the Circuit Courts of West Virginia against STW in connection with alleged exposure to harmful chemicals, and Westfield is currently defending STW under reservation of rights in each of those lawsuits (collectively referred to as "the Underlying Actions"). Westfield's position is that none of the Policies provide coverage for the underlying claims and that it has no duty to defend or indemnify STW in the Underlying Actions. In particular, Westfield has asserted that because the Edwards, Price, and Steele claims were made in 2016 and 2017, and the injuries alleged in the Underlying Actions occurred and manifested between 2014 and 2016, long after any Westfield Policy was in effect, the Policies are inapplicable. In addition, Westfield has asserted that various exclusions in the Westfield Policies also preclude coverage.¹

¹ While the Westfield Policies at issue contain a number of relevant exclusions and limitations which eliminate coverage for the claims being asserted against STW in the Underlying Actions, those exclusions and limitations are not the subject of the question certified by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals and are therefore not addressed in this Brief. Westfield does not waive its

In order to properly address why no coverage applies, it is first necessary to address the allegations made against STW in each of the Underlying Actions.

The Edwards Claim

Robert N. Edwards and Deborah S. Edwards ("the Edwards Claimants") filed Civil Action No. 16-C-32, in the Circuit Court of Marshall County, alleging that STW negligently manufactured and maintained storage tanks for one of its customers, Covestro, LLC ("Covestro"), which resulted in employees of Covestro, including Mr. Edwards, being exposed to various dangerous chemicals. (JA 499-523.) They allege that Mr. Edwards was diagnosed with renal cell carcinoma on or about April 22, 2014, as a direct and proximate result of his exposure to nephrotoxic chemicals and solvents during his work at Covestro and its predecessor, which employed Mr. Edwards from 1962-2001. (JA 499-500.) Specifically, the Edwards Claimants assert that:

STW negligently, carelessly, recklessly and willfully breached its duties of care: (a) by failing to properly manufacture, in an adequate and workmanlike manner, the chemical tanks at the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility; (b) by failing to properly install, in an adequate and workmanlike manner, the chemical tanks at the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility; (c) by failing to thoroughly inspect the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility chemical tanks for leaks, faults, flaws and/or imperfections to the integrity of the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility chemical tanks; (d) by failing to recognize the actual leaks, faults, flaws, and imperfections to the integrity of the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility chemical tanks; (e) by failing to properly repair and/or maintain in an adequate and workmanlike manner, the chemical tanks at the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility; and/or by failing to create a safety plan for chemical tank use and maintenance; and further failing to follow-up with Covestro LLC's predecessors-in-interest to ensure that these safety plan instructions were being followed, all of which resulted in nephrotoxic chemical liquids, vapors, fumes and/or gases escaping into the general population of workers at the herein discussed Marshall County, West Virginia facility, and in particular, into Edwards' work areas.

coverage position with respect to any of those additional exclusions and limitations and maintains that no coverage applies to the subject claims under any of its Policies.

(JA 504-505.) Importantly, all of the Edwards Claimants' allegations concern long-term exposure to harmful chemicals and no specific accident or incident involving STW is identified. At his deposition, Mr. Edwards testified:

- Q. Did anyone ever tell you, have you heard or seen from any source of information, that there was ever any accident or explosion or anything else that occurred in connection with any work being performed at the Bayer facility by Sistersville Tank Works?
- A. No, I can't say that because, you know, I don't remember.
- Q. Now, it would be a big thing if someone was working, trying to perform some task at the facility and they had an accident of some type that resulted in a chemical release of benzene or toluene or any other substance there. That would be something that probably would send off bells and whistles and alarms at the facility, would it not?
- A. Right.

(JA 1158.) While Mr. Edwards has alleged long-term exposure to chemicals over a period of many years, he did not provide any evidence suggesting that he sustained bodily injury as a result of any specific incident or occurrence.

The Price Claims

E. Jane Price filed Civil Action No. 17-C-62H, in the Circuit Court of Marshall County. She sued STW and other defendants, which she has identified as "Benzene Supplier Defendants" and/or the "Formaldehyde Supplier Defendants." (JA 524-542.) Price alleges that her husband, Robert G. Price, was employed by Bayer Corporation and/or its predecessors in interest, Miles, Inc. and Mobay Corporation, at its Marshall County, West Virginia facility, between 1960 and 1995. (JA 524.) She goes on to allege that on or about April 28, 2015, her husband was diagnosed with acute myeloid leukemia ("AML"), from which he died on June 6, 2015. (JA 524.) She asserts claims for wrongful death and bodily injury leading up to her husband's death. As with the Edwards Claimants, all of the Price allegations concern long term exposure to chemicals and no specific accident or incident involving STW is alleged. (JA 524-542.) Mrs. Price testified:

- Q. Did your husband ever communicate to you or did you learn from any other source that there had been some accident that occurred during the course of some work at the plant or facility that involved the installation of, maintenance, servicing, repair, of a tank or vessel where the tank or vessel exploded, it ruptured, it failed, anything of that nature that involved a Sistersville Tank Works tank or any work by Sistersville Tank Works?
- A. He may have said something about something happening, but as far as being explicit, no.
- Q. As we are here today, do you remember your husband ever specifically referencing or making mention of anything related to Sistersville Tank Works?
- A. No.
- Q. That would include any reference that, "Hey, today some tank that had been manufactured by Sistersville Tank Works or that had been installed by them or had been serviced by them or maintained by them or repaired by them, leaked or failed or exploded" or anything like that?
- A. No.

(JA 1169-1170.) Like the Edwards Claimants, Price did not offer any evidence of any specific occurrence during the time any Westfield Policy was in effect.

The Steele Claim

Douglas Steele and Carol Steele (the "Steele Claimants") filed Civil Action No. 17-C-231-

H, in the Circuit Court of Marshall County of West Virginia on November 15, 2017. (See JA 543-

562.) They alleged that STW negligently manufactured, installed, inspected and/or maintained

storage tanks for Axiall, LLC, a successor in interest to PPG Industries, Inc. ("PPG"), which

resulted in Douglas Steele, a former employee of PPG, being exposed to various dangerous chemicals. (JA 560-561.) The Steele Claimants allege that Mr. Steele was diagnosed with chronic lymphocytic leukemia ("CLL") in January of 2016, as a direct and proximate result of his exposure to Benzene products during his work at PPG, which employed Mr. Steele from 1968 to 2006. (JA 548.) As with the Edwards Claimants and Price, all of the Steele Claimants' allegations concern long-term exposure to harmful chemicals, and no specific accident or incident involving STW is identified. (JA 543-562.) Mr. Steele testified:

- Q. Do you know of or has anyone told you about any circumstance where some leak, failure, rupture occurred to a tank manufactured by Sistersville Tank Works at the PPG facility?
- A. Not that I remember.

(JA. 1185-1186.) Likewise, the Steele Claimants did not offer any evidence of any injury resulting

from any ongoing operation or activity of STW on some specific date.

When questioned about whether any particular accident or incident ever took place during

the time the subject Westfield Policies were in effect, Janet Wells, the president of STW, testified:

- Q. To the best of your knowledge, did your company ever have occasion to send any employees to work on a vessel sold by your company to PPG or Axiall that had malfunctioned, developed a leak, or otherwise performed in a fashion that was not consistent with its purpose of maintaining whatever was placed inside it?
- A. No.
- Q. If such an incident would have occurred, we are talking about a period of years here, obviously, and you have had more time to remember than I have, but I have enough trouble, so some things stick out in your mind and some don't. But if someone were to contact your company and say that a vessel that you sold had failed or malfunctioned or created a leak or whatever, would that be something that would stick out to you?
- A. Yes.

- Q. Do you remember any occasion where that occurred with any customer?
- A. No.

(JA 574-575.) In fact, Ms. Wells testified that STW did not even install storage tanks during the relevant period of time. (JA 1401.) Likewise, her testimony further established that any STW repair operations at an employer's facility would have only been performed after any chemicals had been removed. Ms. Wells testified:

- Q. When your company employees would go out to do tank work repair or modification, was it necessary that the vessels be empty for that work to be performed?
- A. Emptied and cleaned.
- Q. And did you all do that?
- A. No.
- Q. So the vessel had already been emptied and cleaned for any product before you all could work on it?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And was it your all's position that the owning company either itself or through some other vendor would be responsible for preparing the vessel for your work?
- A. Yes.
- Q. So you never put your employees in a position where they were working on a vessel that would have benzene in it, for example?
- A. No.

(JA 1402 and 573.) Accordingly, none of the Underlying Actions involve any specific incident or accident involving STW's operations. Instead, all concern (i) alleged defects in the products STW

manufactured and sold, or (ii) repairs or maintenance to storage tanks which purportedly caused them to leak and release harmful chemicals at the subject facilities over a long period of time.

Sistersville Tank Works

The corporate history of STW begins in October of 1984, when its owners purchased the assets of a prior corporation which had also done business as "Sistersville Tank Works." (JA 567-568.) While the new corporate entity, known at the time as "Tyler County Tank Works," acquired the assets of the prior corporation, it did not acquire stock in that entity or assume its prior obligations and liabilities. (JA 568-570.) Instead, after acquiring the assets, the new entity changed its name to "Sistersville Tank Works" in order to continue using the name of its predecessor. (JA 570-571.) Therefore, while the Claimants allegedly worked around storage tanks manufactured by "Sistersville Tank Works" beginning in the 1960s and throughout the 1970s, the only potential exposure to harmful chemicals at issue here involved tanks manufactured by STW **after** it came into existence in October of 1984.

The Coverage Issues

The Westfield Policies in question were issued to STW over a period of many years.² Specifically, Westfield located documents and records indicating that it insured STW over a 22-year period, from 1989 to 2010, under Policy No. 3471223, and from 1989 to 2001 under Policy No. 3471224.³ Westfield Policy No. 3471223 was an "occurrence"-based Commercial General

² Due to the voluminous nature of the complete Westfield Policies, electronic copies were provided to the District Court on discs (JA 577-1101.) and were subsequently provided to the Fourth Circuit in electronic form only. In addition, for ease of reference, excerpts from the Policies setting forth only the relevant Policy language were also provided to the District Court as a separate exhibit to Westfield's *Motion For Summary Judgment*. (JA 1102-1155.)

³ As explained herein, STW asserted in its *Amended Counterclaim* that it has been able to locate incomplete copies of two other purported Westfield policies identified as Policy No.

Liability Policy ("the CGL Policy"), while Westfield Policy No. 3471224 was a claims made policy that provided coverage for liability arising out of "products completed operations" (the "Claims Made Policy").⁴ With respect to the CGL Policy, it is undisputed that Westfield was not STW's insurer between 2014 and 2016, when Messrs. Edwards, Price, and Steele were diagnosed with the diseases and/or medical conditions complained of in the Underlying Actions. Instead, all of the Claimants' alleged injuries occurred and manifested long after Westfield ceased to insure STW. That fact is important because the CGL Policy only provides coverage for "bodily injury" which occurs during the policy period and which is caused by an "occurrence." For example, the 1993-1994 version of the CGL Policy provides:

1. Insuring Agreement

- **a.** We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend any "suit" seeking those damages. We may at our discretion investigate any "occurrence" and settle any claim or "suit" that may result. . . .
- **b.** This insurance applies to "bodily injury" and "property damage" only if:

CWP3457716-01 and Policy No. UXC129553, for the coverage period of 1988-1989. (JA 157-189.) It also asserted that it located Certificates of Insurance indicating that other Westfield policies may have also been in effect during various times between 1985 and 1989. (JA 156.) Because Westfield did not retain such materials pursuant to its document retention policy, Westfield has not been able to locate complete versions of these 1985-1989 policies in this litigation.

⁴ The Claims Made Policy only applied to claims first made during an applicable policy period between 1989 to 2001, after which STW obtained products completed operations coverage from a different carrier. Because it is undisputed that the Edwards, Price and Steele claims were made in 2016 and 2017, long after the "Claims Made" Policy expired, STW has conceded that it does not apply to the Underlying Actions. (JA 202.)

- (1) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" is caused by an "occurrence" that takes place in the "coverage territory;" and
- (2) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" occurs during the policy period.

(JA 1146.) The CGL Policy defines "bodily injury" and "occurrence" as follows:

"Bodily injury" means bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by a person, including death resulting from any of these at any time.

"Occurrence" means an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.

(JA 1148-1149.) In the absence of such an "occurrence" causing bodily injury, no coverage exists

for the claims against STW under any of the applicable Westfield Policies.⁵

B. Procedural History

In recognition of the coverage issues discussed above, Westfield began defending STW in

the Underlying Actions under a full reservation of rights. Westfield then filed its Complaint For

Declaratory Relief (JA 9-79) in the Northern District of West Virginia (the "Coverage Action") to

resolve the coverage issues under the CGL Policy and the Claims Made Policy. Westfield's

Complaint did not and could not address coverage under any purported policies issued to STW prior to 1989, because Westfield no longer had records reflecting the complete terms and

conditions of any such policies, and STW had not provided copies of any such policies despite

Westfield's requests that it do so. In response to the Complaint, STW filed its Answer And

⁵ As noted above, the Westfield Policies also contain a number of relevant exclusions and limitations which eliminate coverage for the claims being asserted against STW in the Underlying Actions. While those exclusions and limitations are not being addressed here because they are not relevant to the question certified by the Fourth Circuit, Westfield does not waive its coverage position with respect to any of those additional exclusions and limitations and maintains that no coverage applies under any of its Policies.

Counterclaim (JA 80-122), seeking declaratory relief on the Westfield Policies and further asserting claims against Westfield for negligence in assisting in the procurement of the policies, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and unfair claims settlement practices. (JA 114-119.)

During discovery in the Coverage Action, STW was able to locate in its records what appeared to be incomplete copies of a 1988-1989 Commercial General Liability Policy, identified as Westfield Policy No. CWP3457716-01, and a 1988-1989 Umbrella Policy, identified as Westfield Policy No. UXC5307375, along with documents indicating that such policies also existed during the 1985-1988 time period. (JA 156-189.) STW then filed an *Amended Counterclaim* against Westfield, asserting that those earlier policies provided coverage and again claiming that Westfield had breached the insurance contract and acted in bad faith by filing the Coverage Action. (JA 129-155.) Because Westfield was continuing to defend STW against the Underlying Actions under a reservation of rights while it litigated the Coverage Action, the District Court dismissed STW's *Amended Counterclaim* in its entirety as unripe on July 15, 2019. (JA 1724.)

Following the completion of discovery, Westfield filed its *Motion For Summary Judgment*, (JA 492-1210.) asserting that it had no duty to defend STW under the Claims Made Policy or the CGL Policy. Westfield argued that, because no "bodily injury" had manifested during the time any of the Westfield Policies were in effect, there had been no "occurrence" to trigger coverage under the Policies. (JA 1683-1690.) STW filed its own *Motion For Summary Judgment* (JA 190-491), asking the District Court to find that coverage and a duty to defend existed under the earlier 1985-1988 Westfield Commercial General Liability and Umbrella Policies, and that coverage under the Claims Made Policy and the CGL Policy was therefore moot. Specifically, STW argued

that coverage was triggered under the 1985-1988 Policies at the time the Claimants were allegedly exposed to harmful chemicals because the incomplete copies of the 1985-1989 Policies located by STW neither contained a specific "products completed operations" exclusion nor required that the Policy applies "only if" a claim for damages because of bodily injury or property damage "is first made" against any insured "during the policy period." (JA 198-229.)

On September 4, 2020, the District Court entered its *Memorandum Opinion And Order* in the Coverage Action (JA 1641-1661.), which granted STW's *Motion For Summary Judgment* and denied Westfield's *Motion For Summary Judgment* based upon the District Court's finding that coverage and a duty to defend exists under the 1985-1988 Westfield Commercial General Liability and Umbrella Policies. (JA 1654-1656.) The District Court further found that because coverage and a duty to defend existed under the 1985-1989 Westfield Commercial General Liability and Umbrella Policies and Westfield had a duty to provide coverage under those policies, the coverage issues related to the 1989-2001 Claims Made Policy and the 1989-2010 CGL Policy were moot. In doing so, the District Court found that, even though none of the Claimants' injuries manifested during the period that Westfield provided coverage to STW, coverage was nonetheless triggered because at least some of the Claimants' alleged exposure occurred during the 1985-1989 period. (JA 1654-1656.)

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