IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Westfield Insurance Company, Petitioner

vs.) No. 22-848

Sistersville Tank Works, Inc., Robert N. Edwards, E. Jane Price, individually and as Executor of the Estate of Robert G. Price, Douglas Steele, Carol Steele, Gary Thomas Sandy, Peggy Sandy, Reagle & Padden, Inc., and David C. Padden Respondents SCA EFiled: Jun 29 2023 11:34AM EDT Transaction ID 70284804

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This matter is before the Court on a certified question to determine: "At what point in time does bodily injury occur to trigger insurance coverage for claims stemming from chemical exposure or other analogous harm that contributed to development of a latent illness?" (JA3).

Consistent with the District Court's holding, the Court should find that the continuous trigger theory of coverage applies, meaning that the bodily injury occurs at the time of initial exposure through the date of manifestation of the injury, and reject the restrictive, manifestation trigger of coverage.

For coverage to trigger under the relevant Westfield Policies, a "bodily injury" must result from an "occurrence" during the policy period. "Bodily injury" is defined under the policy as "bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by a person, including death resulting from any of these at any time." (JA1146-1149). Further, an "occurrence" is defined as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same harmful conditions." (JA362). The District Court found the occurrence language within the pre-1989 Policies to be ambiguous with respect to when the injury from a latent disease would be deemed to occur and, as such, held that such language should be construed in favor of coverage. While the underlying state court plaintiffs' injuries did not manifest during the pertinent policy, the bodily injuries claimed occurred during the pertinent policy period as a result of continued or repeated exposure to the harmful substances through the time of manifestation.

While there does not appear to be any controlling authority in West Virginia regarding the appropriate trigger of coverage to be applied in such cases, the continuous trigger is consistent with existing West Virginia state court authority. Indeed, in adopting the continuous trigger, the District Court relied upon West Virginia standing circuit court opinions, *U.S. Silica* and *Wheeling Pittsburgh*, and recognized that a significant number of other jurisdictions have rejected the manifestation trigger. In doing so, the District Court rejected the federal authority relied upon by Westfield: (1) *State Auto Prop. & Cas. Co. v. H.E. Neumann Co.*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 130172 (S.D.W. Va. Sep. 23, 2016) vacated by *State Auto Prop. & Cas. Co.*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66099

(S.D.W. Va. Mar. 17, 2017); and (2) *Ball v. Joy Technologies*, 958 F.2d 35 (4th Cir. 1991). Moreover, the continuous trigger is consistent with the parties' course of performance related to the 1989-2010 CGL Policy wherein Westfield rejected the manifestation trigger in prior actions where it defended STW. Similarly, Westfield has taken an inconsistent position and urged adoption of the continuous trigger in another jurisdiction, where such a finding would bar coverage. Additionally, adoption of the restrictive manifestation trigger would serve to morph STW's more expensive "occurrence-based" policy into a lesser "claims made" policy depriving STW of the benefit of its bargain and depriving it of the coverage that it had purchased.

Adoption of the continuous trigger and rejection of the restrictive, manifestation trigger will provide clarity and consistency to the policy language, as well as for future courts and litigants.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the Court's March 31, 2023, *Order*, the Court has scheduled this matter for oral argument under W. Va. R. App. P. 20 during the September 2023 Term of the Court.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. Standard of Review.

"A *de novo* standard is applied by this Court in addressing the legal issues presented by a certified question from a federal district or appellate court." *Pajack v. Under Armour, Inc.*, 246 W. Va. 387, 391, 873 S.E.2d 918, 922 (2022), citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Light v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 203 W. Va. 27, 506 S.E.2d 64 (1998). The West Virginia Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act, W. Va. Code § 51-1A-1 *et seq.*, provides at W. Va. Code § 51-1A-3, in pertinent part:

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia may answer a question of law certified to it by any court of the United States . . . if the answer may be determinative of an issue in a pending cause in the certifying court and if there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision, or statute of this state.

Moreover, the Court has held that the decision to answer a certified question is discretionary, and that W. Va. Code § 51-1A-1 *et seq.*, "does not impose an absolute duty . . . to answer such questions." *Abrams v. W. Va. Racing Comm'n*, 164 W. Va. 315, 317, 263 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1980).

B. Statement of Respondents Robert N. Edwards, E. Jane Price, individually and as Executor of the Estate of Robert G. Price, Douglas L. Steele, and Carol Steele.

Given their designation as Respondents in the instant appeal, Robert N. Edwards, E. Jane Price, individually and as Executor of the Estate of Robert G. Price, Douglas L. Steele, and Carol Steele ("the underlying state court plaintiffs") submit this response in the consolidated brief filed with their fellow Respondent, Sistersville Tank Works, Inc.

The underlying state court plaintiffs took no position on the substantive issues raised in this matter when it was pending before the District Court and the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. Likewise, the underlying state court plaintiffs take no position concerning the substantive issues presently before the Court.

C. Each of the underlying plaintiffs have alleged facts to support a finding that they suffered "bodily injury" from an "occurrence" within the "coverage territory".

The Fourth Circuit submitted a specific, certified question to the Court to determine: "At what point in time does bodily injury occur to trigger insurance coverage for claims stemming from chemical exposure or other analogous harm that contributed to development of a latent illness." (JA3). Notably, the Fourth Circuit did not pose the question as to whether the policy language is ambiguous regarding what constitutes a "bodily injury" from an "occurrence" during the policy period. Nonetheless, Westfield seeks to evade its coverage obligations by alleging that the policy language is unambiguous and that the underlying state court plaintiffs have not alleged facts to support a finding that they suffered a "bodily injury" from an "occurrence" within the

"coverage territory". Westfield's position is misplaced, and this issue remains before the Fourth Circuit to be determined after the Court addresses the instant certified question.

Under West Virginia law, unambiguous insurance policy provisions are to be applied according to their plain meaning. Keffer v. Prudential Ins. Co., 153 W. Va. 813, 172 S.E.2d 714 (1970). The interpretation of an insurance contract, including the question of whether the contract is ambiguous, is a question of law. Syl. Pt. 2, Riffe v. Home Finders Assocs., 205 W. Va. 216, 517 S.E.2d 313 (1999). When a policy's provisions are ambiguous, they are to be construed liberally in the insured's favor. Erie Ins. Prop. & Cas. Co. v. Edmond 785 F. Supp. 2d 561, 565 (N.D.W. Va. 2011); see also Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. Leeber, 180 W. Va. 375, 378, 376 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1988). A policy is ambiguous when it is reasonably susceptible of more than one meaning and reasonable minds may disagree as to its meaning. Glen Falls Ins. Co. v. Smith, 217 W. Va. 213, 221, 617 S.E.2d 760, 768 (2005). A court is to give the language of an insurance policy such a construction as to meet the reasonable expectations of the insured. Bailes v. Erie Ins. Prop. & Cas. Co., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5556 *5 (S.D.W. Va. Jan. 25, 2010). "[W]here the policy language involved is exclusionary, it will be strictly construed against the insurer in order that the purpose of providing indemnity not be defeated." Jenkins v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 219 W. Va. 190, 194, 632 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2006) (citation omitted).

In addition to the District Court's finding that the policy language providing that coverage only applies to bodily injury and property damage which occurs during the policy period is ambiguous, in reviewing similar policy language in relation to latent disease, several courts throughout the country have as well. In *Keene Corp. v. Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 667 F.2d 1034 (D.C. Cir. 1981), the court held: "In the context of asbestos-related disease, the terms 'bodily injury,' 'sickness' and 'disease', standing alone, simply lack the precision necessary to identify a point in

the development of a disease at which coverage is triggered." Moreover, in *Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. Forty-Eight Insulations, Inc.*, 633 F.2d 1212, 1222 (6th Cir. 1980), the court stated: "[T]here is usually little dispute was to when an injury occurs when dealing with a common disease or accident[but] there is considerable dispute as to when an injury from [a latent disease] should be deemed to occur."

The policy language is reasonably susceptible to more than one meaning, and, as such, is ambiguous. Because the policy language is ambiguous, it should be construed liberally in favor of the insured, which is consistent with the District Court's finding of coverage under the continuous trigger. *See Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Pitrolo*, 176 W. Va. 190, 194, 342 S.E.2d 156, 160 (1986).

D. Consistent with the District Court, the Court should reject the manifestation trigger of coverage championed by Westfield and apply the continuous or multiple trigger of coverage theory to claims of latent injury that are due to long-term chemical exposure in West Virginia.

Westfield asks the Court (1) to apply the manifestation trigger of coverage to claims of latent injury due to long-term chemical exposure, and (2) to find that the District Court's application of the continuous trigger theory was erroneous. Contrary to Westfield's position, the District Court appropriately adopted the continuous trigger for claims of latent injuries due to longterm exposure, while rejecting the manifestation trigger. Similarly, the Court should adopt the continuous trigger of coverage and reject the manifestation trigger.

The term "trigger of coverage" is not a term that is found in the subject policies, but rather is a term of art used to describe that which must occur during the policy period under "occurrence-based" policies in order for the potential of coverage to arise under the policy. *Montrose Chemical Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co.*, 10 Cal. 4th 645, 913 P.2d 878, n.2 (1995).

Unlike "claims-made" policies in wide use today, which require the assertion of a claim against the insured during the policy period, NGS's "occurrence-based" policies respond to liabilities arising out of "bodily injury" or "property damage" that took place during the time that such policies were in effect, even if the claim is not made until years after the termination of the policy.

Stonewall Ins. Co. v. Asbestos Claims Mgmt. Corp., 73 F.3d 1178, 1192 (2d Cir. 1995). Ordinarily, no thought need be given as to whether an injury has occurred during the policy period because the commission of a negligent act leads closely in time to an injury; however, in cases involving hazardous exposures or environmental contamination, the "bodily injury" or "property damage" may not be detected for many years. Courts have devised four "trigger of coverage" theories to determine whether latent bodily injury or property damage has occurred within the policy period under the insuring clause of the typical CGL and umbrella liability policies. The four "trigger, and (4) continuous or multiple trigger. *Imperial Cas. & Indem. Co. v. Radiator Specialty Co.*, 862 F. Supp. 1437, 1441 (E.D.N.C. 1994).

The two triggers of coverage at the focus of this matter are the (1) continuous or multiple trigger adopted by the District Court and (2) the manifestation trigger rejected by the District Court. Under the continuous or multiple trigger theory, each "occurrence-based" CGL and umbrella liability policy insuring risk from the date of the initial exposure through the date of manifestation is triggered. *Keene Corp.*, 667 F.2d at 1041. Under the continuous trigger, "bodily injury" within the meaning of the policies is viewed to include "any part of the single injurious process" from the initial exposure through manifestation. *Id.* at 1047.

The manifestation trigger is much more restrictive and requires the claimant's injury to be diagnosed or discovered during the policy period in order to find coverage. *Eagle-Picher Indus., Inc. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 682 F.2d 12, 34 (1st Cir. 1982). Under this theory, the fact that the

claimant may have been exposed to harmful substances during the policy period is immaterial. Likewise, the fact that claimant's cancer, asbestosis, or other disease process may have begun or progressed during the policy period is immaterial. Under the manifestation trigger, the date of the claimant's diagnosis is all that matters. *Id*.

The District Court properly considered all of the relevant authorities set forth by the parties and (1) determined that the continuous or multiple trigger should be utilized in West Virginia and (2) rejected the restrictive, manifestation trigger. Notably, in predicting what trigger of coverage the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia would likely adopt, the District Court was "heavily persuaded by the analysis and application of the continuous or multiple trigger theory applied in two West Virginia circuit court opinions cited by defendant STW." (JA1654). Specifically, the District Court found persuasive the following finding by the Circuit Court of Morgan County, West Virginia, in *U.S. Silica Co.*:

[T]hat a continuous trigger theory is applicable to the instant case and will apply a continuous trigger of coverage to the pending silica claims as the suits allege continuing or progressively deteriorating bodily injury. . . . The effect being that insurers are obligated to indemnify insureds for costs associated with liability beginning when the first exposure occurred (the beginning of the accident) and until the claim is brought, or until the underlying claimant dies[,] whichever occurs first.

U.S. Silica, 2012 W.V. Cir. LEXIS 4449 *30-31. (JA426-436).

The District Court's finding in favor of the continuous trigger theory was based largely upon U.S. Silica Co., as well as Wheeling Pittsburgh. Wheeling Pittsburgh is the first known application of a coverage trigger in West Virginia. In Wheeling Pittsburgh, the Wheeling Pittsburgh Steel Corporation and its parent company brought an action for declaratory judgment in the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia, against several insurance companies that had insured the companies under successive umbrella liability insurance policies over a twenty-five year period. The plaintiffs sought a determination as to the appropriate trigger of coverage under the policies and the liabilities of the insurers for the costs of remediating multiple industrial sites which had sustained progressive environmental contamination damages. (JA393). The Circuit Court ruled that the "continuous or multiple" trigger applies in West Virginia:

[T]he Court finds and concludes that the continuous or multiple trigger theory is applicable to the present action insofar as all named defendants' policies in effect during the relevant time periods may be potentially invoked by the Plaintiff to provide coverage for actual property damages proven to be continuous or progressively deteriorating throughout the several policy periods. In adopting the continuous or multiple trigger approach, the Court notes, by way of example, the opinion of numerous other jurisdictions the Court finds persuasive. (citations omitted)

(JA416-417). Indeed, the sheer number of courts rejecting the manifestation trigger, in favor of one or more alternative triggers, is significant, including the highest courts of West Virginia's neighboring states, Maryland, Ohio, and Pennsylvania. (JA218-219).

While Westfield contends that the distinction between the property damage alleged in *Wheeling Pittsburgh* and the bodily injury alleged in each of the Underlying Actions is key, in reality it is immaterial because of the progressive nature of both the property damage and the latent injuries. Point of fact, the District Court was not deterred by this distinction when it referred to property damage and bodily injury jointly as "damages of a progressive or deteriorating nature." (JA1654).

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